I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Ronald Steinmann and Kathleen Steinmann, (Petitioners), by and through their counsel of record, Brian H. Wolfe, hereby petition the Supreme Court for Review of the Opinion of the Court of Appeals and its subsequent denial of Petitioners Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Add Additional Evidence. This Petition for Review is made pursuant to Rules of Appellate Procedure 13.1, et seq.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners respectfully request that the Supreme Court review the opinion of Division II Court of Appeals, State of Washington filed September 10, 2013, specifically the grant of attorney's fees. Petitioners further request that the Supreme Court review the denial of Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Add Additional Evidence. The Order denying said Motions was filed March 4, 2014 and specifically failed to allow additional documents unavailable at the Trial Court level.

A copy of the Decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 thru A-9. A copy of the Order Denying Petitioners Motion for Reconsideration and Petitioners Motion for Adding Additional Evidence is in the Appendix at page A-10.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

.

Petitioners respectfully submit that the Court of Appeals is in error in awarding attorney's fees in contravention of the applicable statute and in contravention of the previous rulings by the Washington State Supreme Court.

Petitioners further respectfully submit that the Court of Appeals Division II made an error in not allowing additional evidence to be presented and considered by the Court of Appeals concerning the authority of Regional Trustee Services Corporation to conduct this foreclosure sale at which Respondents Fannie Mae, aka Federal National Mortgage Association, purchased its interest. This potentially makes its decision in conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions.

Petitioners further submit that the equitable resolution of matters of this nature are an issue of substantial public interest, in light of State and National economies and abuses by the banking system.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners are the owners of real property in Clark County, Washington. During a complicated and failed effort to obtain a loan modification, they became in default of their loan with their apparent Lender, One West Bank. A foreclosure ensued and Respondent Fannie Mae, aka Federal National Mortgage Association, was the Purchaser at the Trustee's Sale. It commenced a "Complaint for Unlawful Detainer" under Clark County

Cause No. 11-2-03547-0. (CP 1-2) While said Complaint stated it was a Complaint for Unlawful Detainer, no statute was mentioned.

Respondent then issued a Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 90-96) wherein the Respondent cited RCW 61.24.060 as the authority for use of an Unlawful Detainer procedure. It also cited RCW 59.12 as the appropriate unlawful detainer statute. No attorney's fees were requested in the Motion for Summary Judgment.

An Order granting Fannie Mae's Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 174-175) was entered with no reservation made for attorney's fees. Respondent has made no subsequent Motion for attorney's fees, other than its Brief of Respondent in the Court of Appeals. The Motion for Summary Judgment was heard without allowance for discovery.

Petitioners' appealed the ruling by the Trial Court. The Court of Appeals then issued an unpublished opinion including an award for attorney's fees under RCW 59.18.290(2) and/or the Deed of Trust itself, which had a provision for attorney's fees. (Appendix A 1-9) Petitioners filed a Motion for Reconsideration. Petitioners also filed a Motion to Add Additional Evidence under RAP 9.11 offering documents to show the Trustee's Sale was without authority.

The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's Motion to Add Additional Evidence. (Appendix A-10) Those documents would show that One West Bank, FSB appointed Regional Trustee Services Corporation as Successor Trustee to commence the foreclosure proceeding against Petitioners on November 9, 2009. The Assignment of Deed of Trust to One West Bank, FSB, was done on November 16, 2009. Even though both documents were recorded on the same date, January 29, 2010, it is clear that One West Bank had no authority to appoint Regional Trustee Services Corporation as Successor Trustee at the

time of appointment. Petitioner's effort was to indicate to the Court of Appeals, Division II that a Division I case, <u>Bavand v. One West Bank, 176 WA App. 475, 309 P3d 636 (2013)</u> had a similar fact presentation and the Division I Court of Appeals ruled that Regional Trustee Services Corporation had no authority to conduct the Foreclosure Sale. The sale in that <u>Bavand</u> case was voided. (Steinmann's Motion to Add Additional Evidence on Review pursuant to RAP 9.11) The result of the denial of these documents by the Court of Appeals, Division II, puts it in a conflict with the opinion of Division I.

V. ARGUMENT

A. A Conflict with Decisions of the Supreme Court of Washington

In its unpublished Opinion filed September 10, 2013 the Court of Appeals, Division II, held that Petitioners Steinmann failed to restrain the Foreclosure Sale and thus they waived the ability to invalidate the sale. Because the Steinmanns failed to pursue any presale remedy provided for in RCW 61.24.130, the Court of Appeals ruled that they have waived the right to challenge the sale and post-sale remedies. The opinion focused on the "waiver" of pre-sale remedies and then, secondly, as an afterthought, made an award of attorney's fees.

The award of attorney's fees is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court. Attorney's fees on appeal are recoverable "only if allowed by statute, rule, contract and the request is made pursuant to RAP 18.1(a)". <u>Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz, 150 WA 2d 518, 535</u> <u>79 P3d 1154 (2004)</u>. In its opinion (at page 9), the Court of Appeals stated two alternative grounds for award of attorney's fees: 1) the prevailing party provision in RCW 59.18.290(2) of the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act found in RCW 59.18, and 2) the attorney fee provision in the Deed of Trust.

RCW 61.24.060 sets forth the rights and remedies of the purchaser at the Trustee's Sale. In this case, Respondent Fannie Mae, and states that the Purchaser at the Trustee's Sale shall have the right to the summary proceedings to obtain possession of the real property provided by RCW 59.12. There is no reference in RCW 61.24.060, to the Residential Landlord-Tenant Act found in RCW 59.18, nor is there any reference to that statute or any of its provisions including RCW 59.18.290 in any portion of the Deed of Trust Act RCW 61.24. The Steinmanns have never been a "Tenant". The Residential Landlord-Tenant Act does not apply.

Thus under the statutory scheme the only unlawful detainer action that Fannie Mae could bring against the Steinmanns after the Trustees Sale was under the Forcible Entry and Detainer Act found in RCW 59.12. That is the limit of the statutory authority of RCW 61.24.060. In its opinion in Petitioners case, the Court of Appeals itself cites with approval that Fannie Mae (Respondent herein) brought its proceedings for an Unlawful Detainer under Chapter 59.12 RCW. (Appendix A page 4)

There are no attorney's fees provisions in RCW 59.12. It simply does not authorize the award of attorney's fees to a prevailing party or otherwise. One may compare RCW 59.12.170, which authorizes an award of "costs" only with RCW 59.18.290(2) which authorizes an award of "costs... and reasonable attorney's fees". In the case of <u>In Re</u> <u>Forfeiture of One 1970 Chevrolet Chevelle, 166 WA 2d 834, 842, 215 P3d 166 (2009)</u>, it is stated:

"Where the legislature uses certain statutory language in one statue and different language in another, a difference in legislative intent is evidenced."

The Court of Appeals also stated that an award of attorney's fees on appeal may be supported by the attorney fee provision in the Deed of Trust itself. There is absolutely no evidence in the record which demonstrates that Fannie Mae was ever a party to that Deed of Trust. Furthermore, its Complaint was not to enforce the Deed of Trust but rather to evict the Steinmanns from the premises, pursuant to an Unlawful Detainer Action. So first Fannie Mae is not a party to the Deed of Trust contract and secondly the Unlawful Detainer Action was not an action "on the contract".

There is no evidence that Fannie Mae had any interest in this matter until June 24, 2011, when it purchased the property at the Trustee's Sale. Simply put, it was not a party to the Deed of Trust contract and is not entitled to benefit from its terms.

Washington Courts have repeatedly held a non-party to the contract has no rights under the contract, and particular no right to obtain attorney's fees under the contract attorney fee provision. <u>Watkins v. Restorative Care Center, Inc., 66 WA App. 178, 195, 831</u> <u>P2d 1085 (1992)</u>. See also <u>Touchet Valley Grain Growers, Inc. v. Opp and Seibold General</u> <u>Construction, Inc., 119 WA 2d 334, 356, 831 P2d 724 (1992)</u>. It is stated that a non-party to a contract cannot claim benefits under the contract.

B. Conflict with Another Decision of the Court of Appeals.

Refusal to allow Petitioners to add additional evidence on review results in a decision in this matter to be in conflict with the decision of Division I Court of Appeals found in <u>Bavand v. One West Bank, supra</u>. Admittedly Petitioners did not bring forward the document contained in its Motion to Add Additional Evidence until after the unpublished opinion was rendered by the Court of Appeals. However, now that those documents have been discovered it is clear that they are nearly identical to the fact pattern

found in the <u>Bavand</u> case. If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals decision in this case would authorize the sale by Regional Trustees Services Corporation to Fannie Mae even though it had no authority to make that sale. By not allowing the additional evidence (which was not in the Trial Court records because discovery was not allowed) then there is a conflict between the result of the decision above and the <u>Bavand</u> decision in Division I.

When the Motion for Summary Judgment was in front of the Trial Court, the <u>Bavand</u> case had not yet been issued. At the same time the Notice of Trustee's Sale issued by Regional Trustees Services Corporation did not disclose a history of the appointment by One West Bank, nor the dates of the appointment. While on the face of the documents they state a recording date of January 29, 2010, there is nothing to indicate to the Steinmanns that they should actually be reviewing the documents themselves to determine the proprietary of the authority of Regional Trustees Services Corporation. After <u>Bavand</u> there is now a higher degree of scrutiny to review the process of One West Bank and Regional Trustees Services Corporation. The two (2) documents would establish that the Trustees Sale conducted by Regional Trustees Services Corporation was void. Therefore Respondent Fannie Mae would have no right to own or possess the property in question.

The Court of Appeals cites <u>Plein v. Lackey, 149 WA 2d 214, 225, 67 P3d 1061 (2013)</u> and <u>Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington, Inc., 174 WA 2d 560, 569, 276</u> <u>P3d 1277 (2012)</u> as the foundation for "waiver". They insist that waiver is an equitable principle. However, they failed to take into account their own ruling in <u>Frizzell v. Murray</u>, <u>170 WA App. 570, 283 P3d 1139 (2012)</u>. In that case, the Borrower, Frizzell made an effort

to enjoin the Trustee's Sale but failed to comply with the Court's order to post a bond.

Therein the Court stated:

"....., waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of relinquishment of such right, and it may result from an express agreement of may be inferred from circumstances indicating an intent to waive. [Citations omitted] Waiver is also an equitable principle that defeats someone's legal rights where the facts support an argument that a party relinquished its rights by delaying in asserting or failing to assert an otherwise available adequate remedy. <u>Albice v. Premier Mortgage</u> <u>Services of Washington, Inc., supra.</u>" <u>Frizzell v. Murray, supra, page 6</u>.

The Court of Appeals then analyzed that the legislature had used the word "may" and concluded:

"...., so under this statute, we apply waiver only where it is equitable under the circumstances and serves the WDTAs goals." <u>Albice v. Premier Mortgage Services of Washington</u>, <u>Inc., 174, WA 2d at 570</u>. <u>Frizzell v. Murray, supra, page 7</u>.

Rules of Appellate Procedure 9.11 is steeped in equity. The whole reason for having the allowance for limited additional evidence to allow the Court of Appeals to review facts that should possible have been in the record in the first place. There are six (6) elements for the Court to consider in acting on the Motion: 1) additional proof of facts as needed to fairly resolve issues on review; 2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed; 3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence at the Trial Court; 4) the remedy available to a party through Post-Judgment Motion and the Trial Court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive; 5) the Appellate Court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, and: 6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the Court. The facts presented by these documents make it fall in line so closely to the <u>Bavand</u> case cited above, that it would inequitable and would obviously change the decision of the matter being reviewed if they were allowed in. The documents were not presented to the Trial Court because the <u>Bain</u> case and the <u>Bavand</u> case had not yet been issued. While a new trial or remand for taking evidence into the Trial Court might be appropriate, to simply deny the Motion for Additional Evidence is inappropriate.

And this is where equity fits. If the Court of Appeals, Division II, can allow Mrs. Frizzell to have not waived her rights because she failed to put in a bond, why isn't it equally equitable to allow the Steinmanns to bring in evidence that the Trial Court did not have available to it, to resolve the issues on review? The sale to Fannie Mae was without authority. That Trustee's Sale is VOID. There is nothing the Court of Appeals can do to clear the title by allowing the transaction to stand. The Court of Appeals and its unpublished opinion will deny justice to Petitioner Steinmann if the VOID sale continues to be recognized as a valid sale to Fannie Mae.

Had the Court of Appeals, Division II, upheld the Motion to Add Additional Evidence, and then reviewed those documents in context of <u>Bavand</u>, there is little question that they would probably change their decision in this case.

C. Substantial Public Interest.

The matter before the Court involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The fallout of the financial crisis experienced in the United States, and Washington State is significant. Many of the larger banks became immune from the impact they were having on their borrowers and careless in how they administered their loans and did their paperwork. We found from the case of <u>Bain v</u>.

Metropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc. 175 WA 2d 83, 185 P3d 34 (2012), that Mortgage Electronic Registration Services, Inc., (MERS) does not actually hold the loan documents. The propriety of MERS being a holder of the documents was raised in response to Respondent Fannie Mae's Motion for Summary Judgment. MERS allegedly was the nominee to assign the Deed of Trust to One West Bank in this case at bar. We now know that the sale was void because Regional Trustees Services Corporation, the Successor Trustee conducting the Foreclosure Sale did not have the requisite authority to conduct the Trustee's Sale. As stated above, it was appointed Successor Trustee by One West Bank before One West Bank had been assigned its beneficiaries interest in the Deed of Trust. One West Bank was assigned the Deed of Trust by MERS, which by practice never held the original Note or Deed of Trust. There is some question that One West Bank ever held the original note or Deed of Trust. Petitioners were not allowed the time to accomplish discovery or any other thorough investigation. That is not to fault the Trial Court. Respondent Fannie Mae was moving the eviction along fairly rapidly and the Bain case and the <u>Bavand</u> case had not yet been decided to give the Trial Court any ammunition to postpone the entry of the Order Granting Summary Judgment and avoid the eviction of Petitioners.

Since the sale is most likely void, title to the property is not conferred in Fannie Mae nor can Fannie Mae confer a good title to any third party to whom it may later sell the property. This would thwart the effort to obtain the stated objectives of the Washington Deed of Trust Act: "(3) to promote the stability of land titles." With a void sale the land's title is unstable. Even if a court would find that Steinmann should have known of this failure before the Trustees Sale, the fact remains that Fannie Mae's title is void because the

sale was conducted without authority. The Court of Appeals Opinion does not rectify that. It does not provide "clear title" to any future purchaser from Fannie Mae.

There is substantial public interest in getting control over the abuses of foreclosure proceedings and the handling of their loan processes by major banks and the government entities known as Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. As the Court of Appeals Division II stated in its <u>Frizzell</u> case, supra, equitable principles should apply when facts are raised to show that it would be inequitable to apply the rule of waiver. So even though the Steinmanns did not attempt a pre-sale restraint of the sale, if ultimately they can bring forward facts that show the sale is invalid, the equitable principles of justice demand that they be given relief and the Trustee's Sale voided.

VI. CONCLUSION

The essence of the Washington Deed of Trust Act is to meet its (3) three principles. The second of those principles is to provide adequate opportunities for interested parties to prevent <u>wrongful foreclosures</u>. We have already discussed the stability of land titles and the fact that a void sale makes the land title of the property in question unstable. We have also pointed out that there is "wrongful foreclosure" when an agency that has been shown to have little authority in the <u>Bain</u> case grants an Assignment of Interest to the Lender who had already appointed a Successor Trustee to start the foreclosure. That was never rectified, thus the foreclosure itself is wrongful and it shouldn't matter when all this comes before the Court. Those of us that work in the legal industry would like it all to happen clearly and distinctly in the Trial Court. Sometime it does not. While this matter is still open and being processed through the Court of Appeals and the Supreme, justice and equity demand that these wrongful foreclosure be dealt with.

Added to that is the inexplicable award of attorney's fees when the statute doesn't apply and the contract Deed of Trust doesn't apply. Those are clearly in contravention of stated case law from the Supreme Court and the statutes themselves.

The Supreme Court should grant this Petition for Review so that the matter can be fully adjudicated.