RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 02, 2014, 10:43 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 90117-1

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION,

Respondent,

ν,

RONALD & KATHLEEN STEINMANN,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Joshua B. Lane, WSBA #42192 Robert W. Norman, WSBA #37094 HOUSER & ALLISON, APC 1601 Fifth Avenue, Suite 850 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 596-7838 Attorneys for Respondent Federal National Mortgage Association

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals' Unpublished Decision Applied Settled Law to Undisputed Facts.

This case involves straightforward application of settled principles of law to the undisputed relevant facts. The Court of Appeals was correct that Fannie Mae was (and is) entitled to fees on appeal under RAP 18.1, RCW 59.18.290(2), and the deed of trust. Courts have repeatedly held that under RAP 18.1(a), appellate courts may grant a party reasonable attorney fees or expenses if applicable law permits it. The Court of Appeals correctly held that RCW 59.18.290(2) allows an attorney's fees

award to a landlord who prevails in an unlawful detainer action, and that the deed of trust signed by the Steinmanns included a provision for attorney's fees, including appellate fees.

The Court of Appeals also correctly applied settled law when it denied the Steinmanns Motion to Add Additional Evidence. The Steinmanns concede that they "did not bring forward the document contained in its [sic] Motion to Add Additional Evidence until after the unpublished opinion was rendered by the Court of Appeals." Pet. at 6. Courts have repeatedly held that permitting a party to supplement the record under these circumstances undermines principles of finality and invades the province of the trial court. *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.,* 88 Wn. App. 10, 17, 945 P.2d 717 (1997) *aff'd,* 137 Wn.2d 683, 974 P.2d 836 (1999) (*citing Washington Fed'n of State Employees, Council 28, AFL-CIO v. State,* 99 Wn.2d 878, 884-885, 665 P.2d 1337 (1983)).

Finally, the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision properly rejected the Steinmanns' contention that they can seek relief from a Trustee's sale in a subsequent unlawful detainer action. *Fannie Mae v. Steinmann*, No. 43133-5-II, slip op. at 8 (September 10, 2013). The Court

of Appeals correctly determined that the Steinmanns waived any objection to the foreclosure proceedings.

B. The Petition Does Not Identify Any Conflict Between the Court of Appeals' Decision and Any Supreme Court Decision.

This Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). An award of fees pursuant to RAP 18.1 by the Court of Appeals is reviewed by the Supreme Court for an abuse of discretion. See, e.g., In re Marriage of Pollard, 99 Wn. App. 48, 56-57, 991 P.2d 1201 (2000); MacKenzie v. Barthol, 142 Wn. App. 235, 242, 173 P.3d 980 (2007).

Based on this standard, the Steinmanns contend that this Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' award of attorney fees to Fannie Mae because the decision purportedly conflicts with decisions of this Court. In support of this argument, the Steinmanns cite to three Washington Supreme Court cases: *Malted Mousse, Inc. v. Steinmetz*, 150 Wn.2d 518, 79 P.3d 1154 (2004); *In Re Forfeiture of One 1970 Chevrolet Chevelle*, 166 Wn.2d 834, 215 P.3d 166 (2009); and *Touchet Valley Grain*

Growers, Inc. v. Opp and Seibold Gen. Const., Inc., 119 Wn.2d 334, 831 P.2d 724 (1992). Pet. at 4-6. These cases, however, do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision.

Malted Mousse is one of many Washington cases holding that attorney's fees on appeal are recoverable "only if allowed by statute, rule, contract and the request is made pursuant to RAP 18.1(a)." See, e.g., Malted Mousse, 150 Wn.2d at 535. In Malted Mousse, the respondent moved for fees on appeal under RAP 18.9(a), alleging that the appeal was frivolous. Finding that the respondent did not meet the standard for establishing a frivolous appeal and failed to cite any other basis for reasonable attorney fees on appeal other than frivolity, this Court denied the respondent's request for fees. Id.

Here, however, Fannie Mae's request for fees to the Court of Appeals was made pursuant to RAP 18.1, not RAP 18.9, and the Court of Appeals' decision awarding fees and costs to Fannie Mae was made pursuant to RAP 18.1, not RAP 18.9. *Fannie Mae v. Steinmann*, No. 43133-5-II, slip op. at 9 (September 10, 2013). Specifically, the Court of Appeals concluded that an award of fees to Fannie Mae was proper

pursuant to both statute and contract. *Id. Malted Mousse* is inapposite to the basis for the Court of Appeals' decision in this case and, thus, there is no conflict.

Chevelle involves a challenge to an order for forfeiture of two automobiles under RCW 69.50.505, drug trafficking laws. 166 Wn.2d at 836. Chevelle neither awards fees nor discusses requests for fees; the Steinmanns cite to Chevelle solely for the general rule that, "[w]here the legislature uses certain statutory language in one statue [sic] and different language in another, a difference in legislative intent is evidenced." Pet. at 5 (citing Chevelle, 166 Wn.2d at 842). Chevelle has no application to this case as the Court of Appeals' decision does not, in any way, involve the interpretation of statutory language. Instead, the Court of Appeals' decision cites to RCW 59.18.290(2) as one basis for awarding fees to Fannie Mae, correctly stating that "RCW 59.18.290(2) allows an attorney fees award to a landlord who prevails in an unlawful detainer action." Fannie Mae v. Steinmann, No. 43133-5-II, slip op. at 9 (September 10, 2013). Although the Steinmanns appear to dispute the Court of Appeals' application of RCW 59.18.290(2), Chevelle does not address RCW

59.18.290(2) or any of the other statutes cited by the Steinmanns, nor does *Chevelle* address the basis for the Court of Appeals' award of fees here, *i.e.*, a prevailing party's request for fees pursuant to RAP 18.1. Thus, again, there is no conflict.

Touchet Valley involves questions of liability following the structural failure of a grain-storage building owned by the appellant, a farmers' cooperative. 119 Wn.2d at 337. Defendant/Respondent, Opp & Seibold, sought attorney's fees on appeal under CR 11. *Id.* at 355. This Court denied Opp & Seibold's request for fees concluding that Touchet Valley's prosecution of the appeal was not frivolous. *Id.* As noted above, Fannie Mae's request for fees to the Court of Appeals was not premised on a claim of a frivolous appeal under CR 11, but rather on statutory and contract provisions as allowed under RAP 18.1. *Fannie Mae v. Steinmann*, No. 43133-5-II, slip op. at 9 (September 10, 2013). *Id.* Although the Steinmanns appear to dispute whether Fannie Mae was a party to the deed of trust executed by the Steinmanns, *Touchet Valley* does not address deeds of trust, nor does *Touchet Valley* address the basis for the Court of

Appeals' award of fees in this case, namely, a prevailing party's request for fees pursuant to RAP 18.1. Thus, there is no conflict.

C. The Petition Does Not Identify Any Conflict With Any Other Court of Appeals Decision.

The Steinmanns contend that this Court should grant review of the Court of Appeals' decision because the Court of Appeals' subsequent "[r]efusal to allow Petitioners to add additional evidence on review results in a decision in this matter to be in conflict with the decision of Division I Court of Appeals," citing *Bavand v. OneWest Bank, F.S.B.*, 176 Wn. App. 475, 309 P.3d 636 (2013). Pet. at 6. This Court will accept a petition for review if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The Court of Appeals has complete discretion in determining whether to review additional evidence subject to RAP 9.11; such decisions are not subject to review by this Court. *See Washington Fed'n*, 99 Wn.2d at 884 (*citing* RAP 9.11). The Steinmanns, however, argue they meet the requirements of RAP 9.11 to allow the Court of Appeals to consider additional evidence. RAP 9.11 provides:

The appellate court may only on its own initiative direct that additional evidence be taken before the decision of a case on review if: (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review, (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed, (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court, (4) the remedy available to a party through post-judgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, and (6) it would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court.

(Emphasis added). This is not the proper standard, however, for determining if an appellate court should allow additional evidence *after* rendering the decision of a case on review. The Steinmanns concede that they did not submit their Motion to Add Additional Evidence until after the Court of Appeals rendered their unpublished decision. Pet. at 6. It is not equitable for an appellate court to permit a party to wait until after the court's opinion is filed and then come forward with evidence that might have supported a different result. *Hollis*, 88 Wn. App. at 17-18. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly denied the Steinmanns' Motion because the Motion was made after the Court of Appeals rendered their unpublished decision in this matter.

The Steinmanns further argue that the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with *Bavand* because it purportedly "would authorize the sale by Regional Trustees Services Corporation to Fannie Mae even though it had no authority to make that sale." Pet. at 7. The primary issue here was whether the Steinmanns waived their objections to the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.040. RCW 61.24.040(1)(f)(IX) provides that failure to enjoin a foreclosure, waives setting the sale aside:

Anyone having any objection to the sale on any grounds whatsoever will be afforded an opportunity to be heard as to those objections if they bring a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130. Failure to bring such a lawsuit may result in a waiver of any proper grounds for invalidating the Trustee's sale.

(Emphasis added). Unlike the Steinmanns, the borrowers in *Bavand* brought a lawsuit to restrain the sale pursuant to RCW 61.24.130, *prior* to the sale. 176 Wn. App. at 492. The Steinmanns waited to challenge the sale until after Fannie Mae purchased the property at the sale and filed an unlawful detainer action against the Steinmanns.¹ *Fannie Mae v. Steinmann*, No. 43133-5-II, slip op. at 2-4 (September 10, 2013). Because

¹ "Sometimes it is said that, if a man neglects to enforce his rights, he cannot complain if, after a while, the law follows his example." Oliver Wendell Holmes, *The Path of the Law*, 10 Harvard L. Rev. 457, 476 (1897).

Bavand is distinguishable it does not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision.

D. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest Requiring a Determination by This Court.

The Steinmanns' final contention is that their lawsuit involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 9. This Court will accept a petition for review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The Steinmanns first appear to claim there is a substantial public interest in the issue of providing "clear title" to any future purchaser of the property from Fannie Mae. This issue is not properly before the Court; the Steinmanns presume that which they seek to prove, i.e., that the title to their property is unclear because the Trustee's sale was void. The Steinmanns failed, however, to convince the trial court and the Court of Appeals that the sale was void, and are now seeking another bite at the apple to make that argument. While the Steinmanns may have a substantial interest in voiding the sale of the property, they have failed to show any substantial *public* interest in this issue. Likewise, the Steinmanns have failed to show whether an authoritative determination by

this Court would provide future guidance to public officers, or whether the issue is likely to recur, in light of the waiver circumstances present here. See, e.g., Washington Off Highway Vehicle Alliance v. State, 176 Wn.2d 225, 233, 290 P.3d 954 (2012) (outlining factors for a continuing and substantial public interest in reviewing a moot case). The Steinmanns therefore fail to demonstrate that their petition involves any issue of substantial public interest justifying discretionary review.

V. ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS

If attorney's fees and costs are awarded to the party who prevailed in the Court of Appeals, and if a petition for review to the Supreme Court is subsequently denied, reasonable attorney's fees and costs may be awarded for the prevailing party's preparation and filing of the timely answer to the petition for review. RAP 18.1(j). If this Court denies the Steinmanns' Petition, Fannie Mae respectfully requests an award of its reasonable attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1(j). If this Court grants the Steinmanns' Petition, Fannie Mae respectfully requests an award of its reasonable attorney's fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1(a) for the reasons discussed above, i.e., RCW 59.18.290(2) – allowing an

award of attorney's fees to a landlord who prevails in an unlawful detainer action – and the deed of trust executed by the Steinmanns – which includes a provision awarding attorney's fees, including appellate fees.

VI. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Fannie Mae asks the Court to deny the Steinmanns' Petition.